FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 7/14/2022 10:50 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/14/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101083-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No: 83415-1-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, SEATTLE

ROBERT WILLIAMS,

Plaintiff/Appellant

vs.

FRANCISCAN HEALTH SYSTEM d/b/a ST. JOSEPH HOSPITAL,

Defendant/Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CARL A. TAYLOR LOPEZ Lopez & Fantel, Inc., P.S. 2292 W. Commodore Way, Suite 200 Seattle, WA 98199 Tel: (206) 322-5200

V. STATEMENT OF CASE			
VI. ARGUMENT6			
A. Summary judgment can only be affirmed if the court, reviewing the record de novo, finds there is no evidence, and no inference that can be drawn from the evidence, that Robert Williams was injured by Franciscan's violation of the required standard of care			
B. Loss of chance of a better outcome is an element of general damages, not a cause of action, which puts it in the province of the jury			
C. The Washington Supreme Court has not made percentage testimony a prerequisite to recover for loss of chance of a better outcome			
D. Washington's Constitution does not permit imposition of a formula on jurors for the determination of noneconomic damages			
VII. CONCLUSION17			
Appendix: A – Article 1, Section 21 of the Washington Constitution			
Appendix B – Court of Appeals Opinion dated 4/11/22			
Appendix C – Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration dated 6/17/22			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Estate of Haselwood v. Bremerton Ice Arena, Inc., 166 Wn.2d 489, 497, 210 P.3d 308 (2009)
<u>Ruff v. County of King</u> , 125 Wn.2d 697, 703, 887 P.2d 886 (1995)
Durland v. San Juan County, 182 Wn.2d. 55, 340 P.3d 191 (2014)7
Dunnington v. Virginia Mason Medical Center, 187 Wn.2d 629, 634, 389 P.3d 498 (2017)
Sprague v. Adams, 139 Wash. 510, 247 P. 960 (1926)
Volk v. DeMeerleer, 187 Wn.2d. 241 386 P.3d 254 (2016)2, 9, 11
Mohr v. Grantham, et al., 172 Wn.2d 844, 262 P.3d 490 (2011)10
<u>Sophie v. Fibreboard Corp.</u> , 112 Wn.2d 636, 771 P.2d 711 (1989)2, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15
Other Cites

Portnov, et al, Journal of Exposure Science and Environmental
Epidemiology (2007), 17, 106-121

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

Petitioner is Robert Williams. He was Plaintiff in the Pierce County Superior Court and Appellant in the Division One of the Court of Appeals.¹

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision for which review is sought is found in Appendix B. It was filed April 11, 2022. A motion for reconsideration was timely filed by Petitioner April 28, 2022. May 11, 2022 the Court of Appeals ordered Respondent Franciscan Health System to file an answer to the Motion for Reconsideration. An order denying reconsideration was entered in the Court of Appeals June 17, 2022. It is found in Appendix C.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should the absence of percentage testimony be an absolute legal barrier to recovery for lost chance of a better outcome even where competent non percentage evidence esttablishes that harm?

- IV. CONSIDERATIONS GOVERNING ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW
 - A. Article 1, Section 21, of Washington's Constitution provides the right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate. The Supreme

¹ The case was transferred from Division II of the Court of Appeals to Division I.

Court has interpreted this to include the calculation of general damages in civil cases. Does requiring percentage testimony before a jury can award general damages for lost chance of a better outcome create an unconstitutional limitation on the power of the jury to award damages?

- B. The courts of appeals have stated the purpose of the requirement of percentage testimony as an absolute requirement to recover damages for lost chance of a better outcome is to give the jury a multiplier for it to apply to the damages award. The Supreme Court in <u>Sophie v. Fibreboard</u> held it was an unconstitutional invasion of the province of the jury for the legislature to impose a damages formula on the legislature cannot do impose a formula on juries for the purpose of calculating general damages?
- C. The courts of appeals have held the absence of percentage testimony is an absolute barrier preventing recovery for lost chance of a better outcome, despite any other competent testimony supporting that harm. The Supreme Court in <u>Volk v</u>. <u>DeMeerleer</u> at p. 278 specifically declined to decide whether percentage testimony should be required to recover for lost

chance of a better outcome. Should the Supreme Court now address this issue to eliminate potential uncertainty in future cases?

V. STATEMENT OF CASE

Robert Williams at around 4:30 in the afternoon of September 15, 2015 experienced a strange and painful sensation related to his right ear. He called his wife and told her he was going to urgent care in Bonney Lake. CP 82-3.

Urgent Care felt the issue needed a more complex evaluation, and said he needed to go to the emergency department at Good Samaritan Hospital to be evaluated. Urgent Care additionally told Mr. Williams that he could not drive himself there. CP 83.

At Good Samaritan Hospital, imaging was ordered for Mr. Williams. While waiting to be imaged, he threw up. <u>Id</u>.

At Good Samaritan an MRI was ordered to rule out stroke. Once stroke is diagnosed there are treatments, including aspirin, statins, and IV fluids given to minimize the effects of stroke and risk of recurrence. CP 102-104.

Over the course of the evening Good Samaritan became aware that Mr. Williams was insured through Group Health. Good Samaritan accordingly did not perform the ordered MRI. Instead they contacted St. Joseph Medical Center (operated by Franciscan Health System) which handled Group Health insureds, to see if Mr. Williams could be transferred. The content of the conversation between the physicians who discussed transfer is not documented beyond the fact that St. Joseph would accept the transfer, however, it is believed that Mr. Williams' presenting symptoms were conveyed. <u>Id</u>.

Mr. Williams arrived at St. Joseph at 12:46 a.m. September 16, 2015. He was not seen by a physician until 3:14 a.m. The physician he saw ordered an MRI to rule out stroke. The MRI did not take place until 8:35 a.m. Unfortunately, shortly after 7:00 a.m. Mr. Williams' stroke became much more serious with medical records documenting right facial numbness and droop. <u>Id</u>.

Appropriate stroke therapies were not begun until 10:03 a.m. Mr. Williams is now totally disabled. Prompt attention at St. Joseph's in accordance with the standard of care by immediately performing an MRI, as was originally ordered at Good Samaritan, would have created a chance for a better outcome for Mr. Williams, including the possibility of complete recovery, since his symptoms upon arrival at St. Joseph's were relatively minor. <u>Id</u>.

An expert in stroke neurology, Dr. Aaron Heide, testified that with stroke time is brain. He stated the longer treatment is delayed the more

brain is damaged. Dr. Heide testified that, since stroke was on the differential, there was need to act expeditiously to assess Mr. Williams. He stated this was not done and that this failure violated the required standard of care and led to the loss of chance of a better outcome. CP 101-103.

With respect to the harm suffered as a result of the standard of care violation, Dr. Heide testified prompt MRI imaging would have revealed Mr. Williams' ischemic stroke, presumably leading to an appropriate medical response to minimize and possibly eliminate any sequelae of stroke. CP 103.

Dr. Heide testified that it was not possible to determine with precision the extent of brain damage caused by the delay in treatment. However, he testified that it is clear Mr. Williams' symptoms considerably worsened and that this likely represented worsening damage to Mr. Williams' brain as time passed. Dr. Heide testified that the interventions that would have and should have been implemented included prompt MRI and administration of aspirin, statin and IV fluids. He stated failure to deliver those therapies caused harm to the brain. CP 103-4.

Dr. Heide testified Mr. Williams is now totally disabled. Mr. Williams cannot walk without assistance. He cannot drive. He has lost hearing in one of his ears. He has lost peripheral vision. Dr. Heide states

with timely implementation of the described interventions and therapies that Mr. Williams' described stroke morbidities could have been minimized or avoided altogether. CP 104.

Franciscan argued testimony establishing the percentage of loss of chance was necessary to recover damages for loss of chance of a better outcome. The court agreed and a non-final order dismissing all claims against Franciscan was entered December 18, 2020. CP 144-146.

The case against the remaining defendant continued. By agreement a final order dismissing all claims against the remaining party was entered February 22, 2021. CP 147-149.

Appeal of the Franciscan dismissal was filed March 19, 2021, 25 days after the final order. CP 150. The court of appeals affirmed the summary judgment, holding percentage testimony was an absolute requirement to recover for lost chance of a better outcome. *Appendix B*. Reconsideration was denied June 17, 2022. *Appendix C*.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Summary judgment can only be affirmed if the court, reviewing the record de novo, finds there is no evidence, and no inference that can be drawn from the evidence, that Robert Williams was injured by Franciscan's violation of the required standard of care.

A trial court's order granting summary judgment is reviewed *de* novo. Estate of Haselwood v. Bremerton Ice Arena, Inc., 166 Wn.2d 489, 497, 210 P.3d 308 (2009). Summary judgment is only appropriate if the pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, declarations and admissions reveal there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the nonmoving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). In determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists, all evidence and all inferences that can be drawn from the evidence are drawn in favor of the nonmoving party. <u>Ruff v. County of King</u>, 125 Wn.2d 697, 703, 887 P.2d 886 (1995). All questions of law are subject to de novo review. <u>Durland v. San Juan County</u>, 182 Wn.2d 55, 340 P.3d 191 (2014).

B. Loss of chance of a better outcome is an element of general damage, not a cause of action, which puts it in the province of the jury.

The case law is somewhat confusing with respect to the nature of loss of chance. Loss of chance of a better outcome is referred to both as a cause of action and as an element of damage – sometimes on the same page in the same opinion. For example, the Washington Supreme Court in a recent analysis of loss of chance said:

> <u>Mohr</u> contains a detailed and comprehensive discussion of the cause of action, the principles underlying the cause of action, and how the cause of action fits in our traditional and general tort principles of medical malpractice, including duty, breach, injury, and proximate cause.

Dunnington v. Virginia Mason Medical Center, 187 Wn.2d 629, 634, 389 P.3d 498 (2017). In the next paragraph the Supreme Court described loss of chance as an element of damage, stating:

A plaintiff making such a claim must prove duty, breach, and that there was injury in the form of a loss of chance caused by the breach of duty.

<u>Id</u>. Thus, although initially characterized as a cause of action, the court defined loss of chance as the injury suffered, not the wrongful conduct.

Despite the seemingly contradictory descriptions, an analysis of prior Supreme Court decisions make it clear loss of chance is an element of damage, not a cause of action. The cause of action is the tort, the wrongful conduct, not the damages flowing from the wrong. <u>Sprague v.</u> <u>Adams</u>, 139 Wash. 510, 247 P. 960 (1926). The term "cause of action" actually reveals this. The "cause" of the action is the wrongful conduct. The "result" of the wrongful conduct is the damage.

<u>Sprague</u> involved a motor vehicle accident. Mrs. Sprague was injured when defendant's taxicab ran into her Ford sedan. She initiated an action in justice court to recover for damage to her vehicle which resulted in a judgment in her favor. She then instituted another action in Superior Court to recover for the injuries to her person. The defendant argued *res judicata* prevented the second action.

The Washington Supreme Court in <u>Sprague</u> analyzed whether or not *res judicata* operated to prevent Mrs. Sprague from splitting her claim. In the course of its analysis the Supreme Court had to determine what

constituted the cause of action. It pointed out that the English rule would have permitted Mrs. Sprague to bring separate actions for property damage and personal injuries, stating:

> The English rule . . . is based on the proposition that the cause of action rests not on the negligent act, but on the consequence of the wrong, from which it is argued that separate proceedings may be instituted for the different injuries as they accrue.

<u>Id</u>. at 519.

Sprague noted that the English rule went against the weight of United States authority. It found that the cause of action is the wrongful act, not the consequences of the wrongful act. The Washington Supreme Court stated: "If the cause of action is the wrongful act, and we so hold, then all the damages sustained thereby, whether to person or property, are properly sought in one suit." <u>Id</u>.

Sprague is still good law and is frequently cited. The evolved case law has continued to define causes of action in terms of the wrongful act, not the consequential damages.

In <u>Volk v. DeMeerleer</u>, 187 Wn.2d. 241 386 P.3d 254 (2016) the Supreme Court made it clear that loss of chance is an element of damage, not a cause of action, stating: "In Washington, the loss of chance can be a compensable injury in a medical malpractice action." Id. at 278. Thus, although sometimes loosely characterized as a cause of action, loss of chance is actually an element of general damage. The cause of action is medical negligence; the resultant damage caused by the wrongful conduct is loss of chance of a better outcome. The question actually considered by the Supreme Court in <u>Mohr v. Grantham, et al.</u>, 172 Wn.2d 844, 262 P.3d 490 (2011) was whether loss of chance of a better outcome was a recoverable element of damage in a stroke case. It found that it was.

To prove the damage related to loss of chance the Supreme Court says established tort causation doctrines apply. <u>Dunnington at 634</u>.

C. The Washington Supreme Court has not made percentage testimony a prerequisite to recover for loss of chance of a better outcome.

There is a constitutional right to have a jury determine general damages. In <u>Sophie v. Fibreboard Corp.</u>, 112 Wn.2d 636, 771 P.2d 711 (1989) the Washington Supreme Court made it clear the right to have a jury determine damages, especially general damages, is a constitutional right. <u>Sophie</u> struck down an attempt by the legislature to place a limit on general damages in medical negligence cases.

There have been recent court of appeals opinions holding that, to recover for loss of chance of a better outcome, there must be testimony establishing the percentage chance of success. Although the Washington Supreme Court discussed percentage testimony in <u>Mohr</u>, the Supreme Court has never made percentage testimony a requirement to recover for loss of chance. The Supreme Court has so far declined to address the issue when it has been presented.

Volk v. DeMeerleer, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016)

involved analysis of loss of chance in the context of a medical negligence

case against a mental health professional. The Supreme Court stated:

However, the Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment as to the loss of chance portion of the medical malpractice claim. The Court of Appeals reasoned that loss of chance requires expert testimony stating actual percentage of lost chance, which Knoll failed to provide.

Id. at 253. The Supreme Court subsequently stated:

Ashby contends that in order to establish a loss of chance claim, an expert opinion must state the conclusion in terms of percentage of lost chance. We need not reach Ashby's argument about the requirement for an actual percentage.

Id. at 278. The Washington Supreme Court has yet to make percentage

testimony a requirement to recover loss chance damages.

D. Washington's Constitution does not permit imposition of a formula on jurors for the determination of noneconomic damages.

In Sophie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 771 P.2d 711

(1989) the Washington Supreme Court examined whether a legislatively

imposed damages limit was constitutional. The court was considering

whether the damages limit based on a formula created by the legislature

violated the constitution of the State of Washington. Sophie held that it

did, stating:

We find that the statute's damages limit interferes with the jury's traditional function to determine damages. Therefore, RCW 4.56.250 violates article 1, section 21 of the Washington Constitution, which protects involate the right to a jury.

Id. at 638.

The Washington Supreme Court described the issue before it as

follows:

At issue in the present case is whether the measure of damages is a question of fact within the jury's province. Our past decisions show that it is indeed.

Id. at 645. The Supreme Court was particularly protective of the jury's

constitutional right to determine non-economic damages:

As our past decisions have shown, Washington has consistently looked to the jury to determine damages as a factual issue, especially in the area of noneconomic damages. This jury function receives constitutional protection from article 1, section 21.

<u>Id</u>. at 648.

To the argument that this constitutional requirement ought not apply to loss of chance of a better outcome because it is a remedy that did not exist when Washington's Constitution was passed, <u>Sophie</u> provides a ready answer:

> Subsequent cases and statutes have recognized newer theories of recovery within the framework of those basic tort actions, but the

basic cause of action remains the same. Therefore, the right to trial by jury with its scope as defined by historical analysis – remains attached here.

<u>Id</u>. at 649. Applying this principle to the case at bar, it is clear that the medical malpractice cause of action has long existed; the fact that loss of chance is a relatively new remedy applied to that cause of action does not eliminate the constitutional right to have a jury make the determination.

The fundamental point emphasized by <u>Sophie</u> is "the legislature cannot intrude into the jury's fact-finding function in civil actions, including the determination of the amount of damages." <u>Id</u>. at 651. The unequivocal holding was "the limit on noneconomic damages in RCW 4.56.250 is unconstitutional." <u>Id</u>. at 669.

It is clear from <u>Sophie</u> that, if the legislature had passed a statutory requirement that juries had to apply a percentage-based formula to determine noneconomic damages for loss of chance of a better outcome, this would be found unconstitutional. The question to be asked here is, can the courts in this circumstance do what <u>Sophie</u> court has made clear that the legislature cannot do without violating article 1, section 21 of the Washington Constitution?

If in fact the right to have a jury determine noneconomic damages is inviolate and if in fact the legislature is prohibited from imposing formulas on the determination of noneconomic damages on the jury, then

it seems that the same constitutional prohibition should apply to court imposed formulas.

The question thus becomes: should a percentage requirement be imposed on this element of general damage? An argument can be made that absence of such testimony leaves the jury rudderless. However, the jury is trusted to determine general damages in other circumstances, like loss of enjoyment of life and loss of consortium, without percentage guidance.

In the case at bar a board certified stroke neurologist testified: "with stroke time is brain. In other words the longer treatment is delayed the more brain is damaged." CP 103. He further stated: "Since stroke was on the differential, St. Joseph needed to act expeditiously in assessing Mr. Williams. It failed to do so, and that failure violated the required standard of care." <u>Id</u>. He noted:

> It is not possible to determine with precision the extent of brain damage caused by the delay in treatment at St. Joseph. However, it is clear that Mr. Williams' stroke related symptoms considerably worsened while at St. Joseph prior to MRJ and diagnosis. This likely represented worsening damage to Mr. Williams' brain as time passed.

CP 103-4. Finally, the doctor stated the following:

Mr. Williams is now totally disabled. He cannot walk without assistance. He cannot drive. He has lost hearing in one of his ears. He has lost peripheral vision. With appropriate intervention at Good Samaritan and St. Joseph it is possible those problems could have been minimized or avoided altogether.

CP 104.

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