FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/15/2022 9:05 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101083-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

v.

FRANCISCAN HEALTH SYSTEM d/b/a ST. JOSEPH MEDICAL CENTER,

Respondent,

MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM d/b/a GOOD SAMARITAN HOSPITAL; and JOHN DOES 1-10,

Defendants.

RESPONDENT FRANCISCAN HEALTH SYSTEM d/b/a ST. JOSEPH MEDICAL CENTER'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amanda K. Thorsvig, WSBA #45354
Michelle M. Garzon, WSBA #31558
FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF
ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE,
PLLC
Attorneys for Respondent Franciscan
Health System, d/b/a St. Joseph
Medical Center
1301 A Street, Suite 900
Tacoma, WA 98402

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

No RAP 13.4(b) consideration warrants this Court's review. While the grounds upon which Williams seeks review are unclear, as he has failed to cite RAP 13.4(b), he implies that Division I's decision raises a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest, RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). It does not.

Nor does any other RAP 13.4(b) consideration warrant this Court's review, as Division I's decision is not inconsistent with decisions of this Court, RAP 13.4(b)(1), or of the Court of Appeals, RAP 13.4(b)(2). Every Washington appellate decision permitting recovery for a lost chance has involved expert testimony that includes an opinion as to the percentage or range of percentage of reduced chance. *See, e.g., Herskovits v. Group Health Cooperative of Puget Sound*, 99 Wn.2d 609, 611, 664

P.2d 474 (1983) (14 percent reduced chance of survival); *Mohr* v. Grantham, 172 Wn.2d 844, 849, 262 P.3d 490 (2011) (50 to 60 percent chance of better outcome); Dunnington v. Virginia Mason Med. Ctr., 187 Wn.2d 629, 636, 389 P.3d 498 (2017) (40 percent chance plaintiff's cancer would not recur and 60 percent chance it would); Shellenbarger v. Brigman, 101 Wn. App. 339, 348, 3 P.3d 211 (2000) (20 percent chance disease progress would have been slowed); Christian v. Tohmeh, 191 Wn. App. 709, 366 P.3d 16 (2015), rev. denied, 185 Wn.2d 1035 (2016) (40 percent chance of diminished symptoms with nonnegligent treatment); Estate of Dormaier v. Columbia Basin Anesthesia, PLLC, 177 Wn. App. 828, 313 P.3d 431 (2013) (negligence reduced chance of survival by 50 to 70 percent); Guardado v. Valley Med. Ctr., 2012 Wash. App. LEXIS 1004 (2012) (30 to 40 percent chance of survival sufficient to support loss of chance claim); Pitts v. Inland Imaging, LLC, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 1045 (2017), rev. denied, 189 Wn.2d 1014 (2017) (loss of chance inapplicable with expert testimony stating 90 percent chance of favorable result).

A. <u>Division I's Decision is Not in Conflict with Any Decision</u> of This Court.

Williams contends, *Pet. at 10-11*, that this Court has never required expert testimony as to the percentage lost chance. Although this Court has not expressly stated that such testimony is required, all four of this Court's loss-of-chance decisions have discussed percentages as an integral component in loss of chance analysis.

This Court first evaluated loss of chance in *Herskovits v*. *Group Health*, 99 Wn.2d 609 (1983), to determine "whether a patient, with less than a 50 percent chance of survival, has a cause of action against the hospital and its employees if they are negligent in diagnosing a lung cancer which reduces his chances of survival by 14 percent." *Id.* at 610-11 (emphasis added). This Court answered in the affirmative, with Justice Dore's lead opinion, *id.* at 610-19, concluding that "medical testimony of a reduction of chance of survival from 39 percent to 25 percent is sufficient evidence to allow the proximate cause issue to go to

the jury," *id.* at 619, and Justice Pearson's controlling plurality opinion, *id.* at 619-36, holding that such testimony was sufficient to create a material issue of fact, *id.* at 622, 634.

In reaching its conclusion, the plurality discussed the important role that the percentage of reduced chance serves as a parameter for damages, allowing a loss of chance plaintiff to recover only those proportional damages that the alleged negligence actually caused—which the percentage established. *Id.* at 635. The lead opinion similarly mitigated concerns about loss of chance claims' potentially speculative nature, highlighting that "[w]here percentage probabilities and decreased probabilities are submitted into evidence, there is simply no danger of speculation on the part of the jury." *Id.* at 618. With the percentage as a guardrail, *Herskovits* recognized loss of chance.

This Court expanded loss of chance in *Mohr v. Grantham*, 172 Wn.2d 844, 857 (2011), to reach lost chance of a better outcome, and clarified that the loss of chance was the

a stroke that left her permanently disabled, and she alleged that she would have had a chance for a better outcome with earlier diagnosis. *Id.* at 846. Unlike Williams, however, Mohr produced medical experts who opined that, had she received antithrombotic therapy, she would have had a "50 to 60 percent chance of a better outcome." *Id.* at 860. This Court concluded that, with expert testimony establishing the range of percentage reduced chance, the plaintiff had presented a prima facie loss-of-chance case to survive summary judgment. *Id.*

In so holding, this Court again alleviated concerns about speculative harm by pointing to "calculation of a loss of a chance for a better outcome ... based on expert testimony," which in turn discounted damages to ensure that the defendant was liable, not for full damages associated with the adverse outcome, but only those that the lost chance actually caused. *Id.* at 857-58. Addressing the "criticism of holding individuals or organizations liable on the basis of uncertain probabilities," *Mohr* formally

adopted the *Herskovits* plurality's proportional damages approach; for example, "if the loss were a 40 percent chance of survival, the plaintiff could recover only 40 percent of what would be compensable under the ultimate harm of death or disability (*i.e.*, 40 percent of traditional tort recovery)" *Id.* at 858.

Loss of chance came before this Court again in *Volk v*. *DeMeerleer*, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016), but it did not reach the claim's merits because the plaintiff alleged that negligence caused 100% of the lost chance for survival, making the alleged tortfeasors responsible for the actual outcome, not the loss of chance. *Id.* at 279. *Volk* therefore re-emphasized the vital role that a percentage plays in determining whether a loss of chance claim applies at all. Williams' reliance, *Pet. at 11*, on *Volk* is misplaced.

Finally, this Court in *Dunnington v. Virginia Mason*, 187 Wn.2d 629 (2017), reviewed whether "but for" or "substantial factor" causation applied in a loss of chance case. In clarifying

that "but for", not "substantial factor", causation generally applies in loss of chance cases, this Court discussed *Rash v. Providence Health & Servs.*, 183 Wn. App. 612, 334 P.3d 1154 (2014), *rev. denied*, 182 Wn.2d 1028 (2015), and *Christian v. Tohmeh*, 191 Wn. App. 709 (2015), both of which held that an expert must establish a percentage or range of percentage of reduced chance. *Id.* at 635-37. This Court did not criticize or question the percentage requirement stated in those decisions, but instead cited their analyses on causation favorably. *See id.*

Division I's decision is thus not in conflict, but consistent, with decisions of this Court.

B. <u>Division I's Decision is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of the Court of Appeals.</u>

Division I's decision follows multiple Court of Appeals' decisions holding that plaintiffs seeking recovery for loss of chance must present expert medical testimony "that includes an opinion as to the percentage or range of percentage reduction in the chance." *Rash*, 183 Wn. App. at 636 (expert's testimony that hospital error was a substantial factor in accelerating death does

not satisfy plaintiff's burden to articulate percentage); Christian, 191 Wn. App. at 731 ("In a lost chance suit, a plaintiff carries the burden of producing expert testimony that includes an opinion as to the percentage or range of percentage reduction of the better outcome.") (citing Herskovits, 99 Wn.2d at 611; Mohr, 172 Wn.2d at 849); Enebrad v. MultiCare Health Sys., 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 385, *9-10, rev. denied, 190 Wn.2d 1027 (2018) ("The plaintiff must submit testimony from an expert health care provider that includes an opinion as to the percentage or range of percentage reduction in the chance of survival."). They have done so for important reasons that this Court has also articulated, namely identifying when to submit a loss of chance claim to a jury and ensuring that a defendant is liable only to the extent of the lost chance it caused.

Because Division I's decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals, this Court should decline review.

C. <u>Division I's Decision Does Not Involve a Significant</u> Question of Law under the State or Federal Constitution.

Williams argues, *Pet. at 7-15*, that requiring an expert to provide a percentage or range of percentage of reduced chance of better outcome unconstitutionally invades the jury's province to determine damages. Extreme in oversimplification, Williams contends, *Pet. at 7-9*, that the loss of chance is simply general damages like lost enjoyment of life that a lay jury can determine without medical evidence. This argument poses many problems.

First, loss of chance is not just an element of general damages. While it is not an independent cause of action, but a theory contained by medical malpractice, *Rash*, 183 Wn. App. at 629-30, the unique issue in loss of chance cases is "primarily one of causation, resolution [of which] requires us to identify the nature of the injury." *Herskovits*, 99 Wn.2d at 623 (plurality). The *Herskovits* plurality characterized the injury as "the loss *of a less than even* chance." *Id.* at 634 (emphasis added); *see also Mohr*, 172 Wn.2d at 850-51 (discussing "cause in fact" in traditional medical malpractice cases," but "in service of

underlying tort principles, this court and others have recognized some limited exceptions to the strict tort formula, including recognition of loss of chance claims").

Although confirming that the lost chance is the compensable "injury," *Mohr* went on to clarify that "injury" and "damages" are not equivalent. *Id.* at 857, 860. Addressing respondents' argument that they were entitled to dismissal because the Mohrs had not proved damages, *Mohr* underscored that such argument was a "misconception of the requirements of medical malpractice tort law. *See* RCW 7.70.040. The Mohrs have made a prima facie case of injury: lost chance of a better outcome." *Id.* at 860. They did so by providing expert testimony that Mohr would have had a 50 to 60 percent chance of a better outcome with non-negligent care. *Id.* at 859-60.

Second, expert testimony that includes an opinion as to the percentage loss of chance is essential to evaluating what claim to submit to a jury. Without it, determining whether the loss or reduction of the chance was "less than even" so as to allow a loss

of chance theory to proceed, or greater than 50 percent so as to require plaintiff to prove proximate cause of the ultimate harm by traditional tort principles, as posited in *Herskovits*, 99 Wn.2d at 634, is impossible.

Third, contrary to Williams' claim, *Pet. at 15*, a lay jury does not have specialized, scientific knowledge to determine without expert medical testimony what percentage chance of better outcome a plaintiff would have had with non-negligent care. That expert testimony grounds the percentage of lost chance ensures the jury's verdict does not rest on speculation. Unlike life experiences from which a jury can derive general damages, for example in cases involving loss of enjoyment of life or loss of consortium, *Pet. Br. at 15*, what scientific chance of a better outcome a plaintiff would have had with non-negligent care is not within the ken of a lay jury.

"[A]ccurate calculations and use of percentages" are essential in loss of chance claims. *Rash*, 183 Wn. App. at 637. As Division I recognized, they are of particular importance in

ensuring "that the jury, in awarding damages, does not hold the defendant responsible for damages caused by the underlying injury as opposed to damages caused by the negligence that resulted in the lost chance." *Slip Op. at 15; see also Herskovits,* 99 Wn.2d at 632 (plurality) ("the defendant is liable, not for all damages arising from the death" or the worse-than-expected outcome, "but only for damages to the extent of the diminished or lost chance"); *Mohr,* 172 Wn.2d at 857-58 ("calculation of a loss of a chance for a better outcome ... based on expert testimony" alleviates concerns about speculative harm).

Williams argues, *Pet. at 16*, that "any opinion expressing a percentage of lost chance is at best applying population statistics to an individual case and at worst rank speculation." This argument makes no sense for many reasons, chiefly that adopting it would render all loss of chance cases incapable of proof. His argument runs contrary to modern medicine, which uses statistics-based algorithms to develop prognostic projections and treatment guidelines, and his own expert's testimony that relies

entirely on statistics to posit that "time is brain in stroke and quicker is better," CP 104.

The law is well-settled that experts cannot base their opinions on "rank speculation" to defeat summary judgment, but they can, and do, use statistics and statistics-based medicine to support their opinions. *Volk*, 187 Wn.2d at 277; *see also Seybold v. Neu*, 105 Wn. App. 666, 677, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001) ("expert testimony must be based on facts in the case, not speculation or conjecture"). Courts routinely look to statistics-based evidence in evaluating causation and damages. *See, e.g., Shellenbarger*, 101 Wn. App. at 349 (using statistical life expectancy to evaluate additional years of life plaintiff may have had without lost chance).

Fourth, Williams' contention, *Pet. at 10-15*, that requiring expert testimony as to the percentage lost chance unconstitutionally imposes a damages "formula" on jurors is incorrect. Division I correctly distinguished such a requirement, which "in no way improperly limits the amount of the damages

that the jury may award," Slip Op. at 15, from the arbitrary and

therefore unconstitutional damages cap in Sofie v. Fibreboard,

112 Wn.2d 636, 771 P.2d 711 (1989), that applied regardless of

a jury's verdict, about which the jury was not informed, and over

which the jury had no control. Requiring a plaintiff to produce

expert testimony as to the percentage or range of percentage of

reduced chance caused by the alleged negligence is nothing like

the unconstitutional damages cap in *Sofie*.

Nor, as Williams argues, *Pet. at 16*, is it unclear "what the

jury is supposed to do with the percentage testimony."

Washington Pattern Verdict Form WPI 105.20 makes it perfectly

clear what the jury is supposed to do. Had Williams produced

adequate expert testimony and otherwise established a prima

facie case to defeat summary judgment, the jury could have been

presented with a verdict form like WPI 105.20:

QUESTION 1: Was (name of defendant) negligent?

ANSWER: (Write "yes" or "no")

-24-

QUESTION 2: Was (name of defendant)'s negligence a proximate cause of a reduction in [(name of decedent)'s] [(name of plaintiff)'s] chance to [survive the condition which caused [his] [her] death] [have a better outcome]?

ANSWER: (Write "yes" or "no")

QUESTION 3: What do you find to be the percentage reduction in [(name of decedent)'s] [(name of plaintiff)'s] chance to [survive] [have a better outcome] proximately caused by the negligence of (name of defendant)?

ANSWER: % (cannot exceed 50%)

QUESTION 4: What do you find to be the [(name of decedent)'s] [(name of plaintiff)'s] total amount of damages?

ANSWER: \$_____.
WPI 105.20.

The jury thus assigns damages to the entire injury, be it disability or death, in whatever sum they believe the evidence supports. No cap exists. While the trial court then reduces that jury-determined sum by the percentage of lost chance, the jury *also* decides the percentage of lost chance based on expert

testimony to ensure that its determination does not derive from speculation. The jury is instructed that this percentage will reduce the award to ensure that the defendant is liable only for the damages it proximately caused, which is the lost chance. The jury determines both the total damages and the lost chance. The jury retains the power to decide the full extent of plaintiff's damages.

Because requiring a plaintiff to produce expert testimony as to the percentage does not unconstitutionally invade the jury's ability to determine damages, Williams fails to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(3).

D. <u>Division I's Decision Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.</u>

Finally, Williams contends, *Pet. at 14-15*, that the wrongdoer, not the victim, should bear uncertainty's risk, claiming that requiring him to present expert testimony as to the percentage of lost chance improperly burdens him. But all loss-of-chance plaintiffs face this hurdle. And for good reason. It is the compromise courts have struck to allow loss of chance claims

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